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Jewish Memphis: A Brief Historical Overview

By Harriet Stern

Fifteen years ago, when the Southern Jewish Historical Society conference was held in Memphis, we explored
ourselves as “lox and grits” Southern Jews. Today, as we once again host the SJHS Annual Conference, a more apt
description might be “lox and latte.” For our convention visitors as well as our Memphis membership we offer
this brief historical overview of the Jewish presence in our fair city.

Thoroughly modern

Jewish Memphis has
a strong communal life,
with 80-90 per cent af-
filiation among the ap-
proximately 10.000
Jews. The city has four
modern synagogues
(Conservative, modern
Orthodox, Reform and
Sephardic), two smaller
Orthodox congrega-
tions, two Jewish day
schools, two pre-
schools, a Yeshiva, a
Jewish newspaper in ex-
istence for 78 years, a
new Jewish magazine, a residence for senior adults, a
nursing home for the aged, a Jewish Family Service, a
Jewish Community Center, both a Jewish Student Union
and a Judaic Studies program at the University of Mem-
phis, plus many other social, fraternal, and service groups.
Most Memphis Jews, though not all, live in relative prox-
imity to these institutions located some 15 miles from
the banks of the Mississippi where the early settlers con-
gregated.

Front Street, c. 1895, looking north from re wemmem Building
(Photo courtesy of Memphis/Shelby County Public Library)

Memphis had the fa-
miliar immigration pat-
tern: German, mostly
Reform Jews settled here
in the mid-19th Century;
mostly Orthodox East-
ern European Jews mi-
grated at the end of the
century and into the
20th. Refugees from
Hitler arrived in the
1930s, followed by sur-
| vivors of the Holocaust.
Russian refugees came
to the community in the
1980s and *90s.

Many members of the
local Jewish community have come from small towns in
the region. Numbers of Jews who came to the South
settled in small towns and founded businesses, kept
Judaism alive in their homes and built vibrant Jewish
institutions wherever possible. In recent years, the
reduced economic life, a younger generation that did not
want small town life, thus the loss of a critical mass needed
for a real Jewish community brought even more of the
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Approximately sixly years ago the
Jewish people, and especially the
European Jews, suffered the most
tragic experience that ever happened
to World Jewry—the Shoah or
Holocaust. The many Jews who were
responsible for great educational
endeavors, the writers, musicians,
scientists, businessmen, tradesmen and artisans faced
death from the hands of the Nazis and perished. It was
only through the survival of a relative few that the world
learned what actually happened during World War I1. In
fact, the Nazis were so sure that they would succeed
with the annihilation of the Jewish people that when they
broke ground to establish a Jewish museum in Prague,
Czechoslovakia, they supposedly dedicated it as a
“museum of a people who once was but is no more.” Of
course, all this is history which we can look back on and
cry and mourn for all the tragic losses as well as rejoice
and be thankful for the survival of those who brought the
history to us.

While some of the history through which we have
lived has dealt with matters of life and death, other aspects
have dealt with more subtle experiences such as the
disappearance of Jewish youth through assimilation. It is
when discrimination disappears and anti-semitism is no
longer a factor in the progress of Jews in the fields of
business or professions that Jewishness or Yiddishkeit
weakens. It is then that we need to revive the history of
the Jews and strengthen the ties that have kept us together
for all these years.

The Jewish Historical Society makes us clearly aware
of where we came from, how we got here and what we
have done since we arrived. It takes knowledge, study
and a sense of relationship to bring us up to date and
make us aware that history does not just happen; it is
created by people and transmitted by people. Those of
us here in the Jewish Historical Society of Memphis and
the Mid-South can be proud of making our contribution
of helping to create a bridge between some of the early
Jewish immigrants and settlers in the vast areas of the
southern part of the United States and the generations of
today.

Therefore, we take great pride in welcoming the
Southern Jewish Historical Society’s 28th Annual
Conference to Memphis to help bring top quality
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historians and professionals who will share their
knowledge with us. It is a privilege to have earned this
honor, and we, the Memphis Jewish Historical Society,
will exert every effort to help the co-chairmen of the
conference, Sumner Levine and Jack Rosensweig, achieve
the success for which they have worked so hard.

Max




HISTORY, continued from Page 1

small town Jews to Memphis. Loss of the Brownsvilles,
the Blythevilles and the Clarksdales has been Memphis’
gain.

Memphis was founded in 1819, when the Indian
population was “removed” for white expansion and
settlement. Ideally situated in the middle of the continent
and set on bluffs above a broad sweep of the Mississippi
River, Memphis came to dominate the regional riverboat
cotton trade and today continues as
a major distribution center.

It was a great shock when, in December of 1862,
General Ulysses S. Grant issued his General Order
Number 11, the only anti-Semitic order in American
history. Singling out Jews from all others for speculation
and running contraband, Grant ordered the immediate
expulsion of the Jewish population from Tennessee,
Mississippi and Kentucky. Grant had his supporters, but
Jewish leaders appealed to “Father Abraham™ Lincoln,
and he rescinded the order within a few days.

Once the war ended, the Jewish business community
flourished with new roles in banking,
insurance and cotton. There were,

Ifyou were to arrive by riverboat

however, only three Jewish lawyers

yourself and debark at the In 1862, after the Union and one doctor because of a lack of
cobblestone levee below Riverside army captured Memphis, acceptance of Jews in the
Drive, you might walk up a block to General Ulysses S. Grant professions.

Front Street. Leading Jewish cotton issued the only anti-S omitic In 1873 and 1878, yellow fever

brokers on this “Cotton Row™ have
had successful companies beginning
with that of Joseph Andrews, who

order in American history.

devastated the city. Many fled and
many died. From a population of
2100 Jews before the Civil War, only

arrived in 1840. Andrews is

considered the founder of the Memphis Jewish
community because he donated land for a cemetery when
his brother died in 1847. This prompted the formation of
the first Jewish communal institution, the Hebrew
Benevolent Society, which took care of burials and of
the cemetery, soon followed by the Ladies’ Benevolent
Society for charitable work.

If you were to proceed another block east to Main
Street, you might imagine yourself passing the many shops
of the early Jewish immigrants: D. Block’s men’s
furnishings, Zellner’s shoes, Jacob Block’s hats, and the
dry goods stores of Sam and David Schloss, Lehman and
Co., plus four more dry goods establishments owned by
four different Levys. Later merchants built specialty stores
such as Phil A. Halle men’s furnishings and larger
department stores such as Lowenstein’s, Lowenstine’s,
Bry’s, Black and White (later renamed Shainberg’s) and
Goldsmith’s (still in existence but no longer locally
owned.)

The city’s growing prosperity was interrupted by the
Civil War. Some Jews were slaveholders and a few were
slave traders. Because Jews who had settled in the South
generally acculturated to Southern mores, the Jewish
community favored secession. Rabbi Simon Tuska and
leading Jewish merchants were outspoken advocates of
the Confederacy. Loyalty to the South, more than defense
of slavery, motivated them. After the Union captured and
occupied Memphis in 1862, some changed sides.

300 remained. The Hebrew Hospital
and Relief Association served the entire community
during the Yellow Fever epidemic.

By the 1880s, the earliest German Jewish population
moved a short distance eastward in the city. Newer Jewish
arrivals for the next twenty years came from Eastern
Europe, fleeing pogroms, army service and a desperate
life. They joined Italian and Irish immigrants in the
vacated area north and near the river, which became
known as “the Pinch” for the pinched stomachs of the
Irish fleeing famine. Primarily poor and working class,
the East European Jews brought their socialism and
Zionism to this twelve-block area which was the Memphis
version of the Lower East Side of New York. Life in
“the Pinch” remains vivid in nostalgia for its former
residents now living elsewhere in the city as well as for
local author Steve Stern, who reimagines it in his writings.

By 1912, the Jewish population had grown to 6000.
The Jewish Neighborhood House, established in 1901 to
serve the influx of immigrants, helped not only Jews but
the entire “Pinch” population. When, by the Depression,
no Jews remained in the neighborhood, Neighborhood
House continued to serve the education and health needs
of the subsequent African-American population. Today
it exists as a scholarship fund. The Hebrew Benevolent
Society, having reorganized after the Civil War to provide
for postwar needs, in 1906 became the Federation of

Please see History, Page 7
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